RECEIVED

Mar 28 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2021-001168

BVW HOLDING AG.....Respondent,

v.

HOOWAKI, LLC,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Respectfully submitted,

s/Michael D. Wright

Vincent A. Sheheen
Michael D. Wright
SAVAGE, ROYALL & SHEHEEN, L.L.P.
P.O. Drawer 10
Camden, South Carolina 29021
803-432-4391
vsheheen@thesavagefirm.com
mwright@thesavagefirm.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err by applying the wrong standard of review in declining to enforce the parties' arbitration provision?

- II. Did the trial court err in refusing to dismiss this action or, in the alternative, to compel arbitration?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 20, 2021, BVW Holding AG (“BVW”) filed a Summons and Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas in Greenville County against Hoowaki, LLC (“Hoowaki”) asserting a collection action for an alleged debt Hoowaki owes to BVW (“Complaint”). (R. p. 12). On April 29, 2021, Hoowaki timely filed its Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration (“Arbitration Motion”) (R. p. 19). Hoowaki’s Arbitration Motion asserts, in pertinent part, that BVW’s Complaint should be dismissed “pursuant to Rule 12 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, as amended; the Federal Uniform Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1, *et. seq.*; the dispute resolution provision of the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement between the parties; as well as applicable Federal and South Carolina jurisprudence.” (R. p. 19).

On July 29, 2021, BVW filed its Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss (“Opposition to Arbitration Motion”). (R. p. 20). The following day, July 30, 2021, Hoowaki filed its Memorandum in Support of Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration. (R. p. 26). On August 2, 2021, the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr. entertained oral argument on Hoowaki’s Arbitration Motion and requested counsel for the parties to submit proposed orders. On the same day, Judge Kinlaw issued a Form-4 Order stating he was taking the matter under advisement and requesting proposed orders within 30 days from the hearing. (R. p. 1).

Following the parties’ submission of proposed orders, Judge Kinlaw entered an Order denying Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration (“Order”). (R. p. 4). On September 10, 2021, Hoowaki timely filed its Motion to Alter or Amend and for Reconsideration of Judge Kinlaw’s Order. (“Motion for Reconsideration”) (R. p. 10). On September 20, 2021, the circuit court entered an Order denying Hoowaki’s Motion for Reconsideration. (R. p. 10).

On October 14, 2021, Hoowaki timely filed its Notice of Appeal from the “Orders of the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr.” and included a copy of the orders referenced in the Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 87).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Hoowaki is an industry leader in high and low friction micro-surfaces for grips, devices, gear, and packaging and holds multiple U.S. patents. On or about July 10, 2015, BVW and Hoowaki entered into a Cooperation and License Agreement (“Agreement”) between the entities. The Agreement provided for, among other things, an agreement to cross-license certain intellectual properties from one entity to the other for the use in the parties’ respective businesses, or “fields of use” as well as facilitated cooperation in the development of further intellectual property that the parties could utilize in their respective fields of use. On or about June 9, 2017, the parties entered into an Addendum to the Cooperation and License Agreement (“Addendum”) which modified certain terms of the Agreement between the parties. These agreements are still in full force and effect and the parties are currently operating under the terms of these agreements.

BVW brought suit against Hoowaki regarding a promissory note that was executed between the parties in order to facilitate the parties’ business arrangement consistent with the terms of the Agreement. The only reason Hoowaki executed the promissory note at issue was to further the contractual agreements between the parties at issue since the inception of the Agreement in 2015. (R. p. 72). In short, the promissory note is only one part of a larger series of dealings and agreements between the parties. Hoowaki could have easily obtained a traditional loan from a third-party financial institution, but asserts that this related document and transaction contemplated therein is consistent with the parties’ overall business dealings. (R. pp. 78-79). Having operated under the terms of the Agreement for several years and in order to better facilitate the parties’

business arrangement consistent with the terms of the Agreement, the parties executed the promissory note at issue. (R. p. 79). The parties would not have entered into the promissory note but for the overarching Agreement between the parties as it provided Hoowaki capital to engage in the transactions contemplated by the Agreement. (R. p. 72).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The law governing the standard of review in the denial of motions to compel arbitration in South Carolina is well-settled. “The determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to de novo review.” Chassereau v. Global Sun Pools, Inc., 373 S.C. 168, 171, 644 S.E.2d 718, 720 (2007); see also Simpson v. World Finance Corp. of South Carolina, 367 S.C. 184, 623 S.E.2d 877 (2005) (“The question whether a claim is subject to arbitration is a matter of judicial determination, unless the parties have provided otherwise. Appeal from the denial of a motion to compel arbitration is subject to de novo review.”)

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court applied the Incorrect Standard of Review When Determining the Enforceability of the Arbitration Provision.

As a threshold matter, our courts have held that “[t]he party **resisting arbitration bears the burden** of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014) (quoting Green Tree Fin. Corp.-Ala. v. Randolph, 531 U.S. 79, 91, 121 S.Ct. 513, 148 L.Ed.2d 373 (2000)) (emphasis added). The trial court in the instant matter erred in applying the wrong standard of review with respect to the enforcement of the arbitration provision. The trial court stated in its order that “[t]he party seeking to enforce an agreement to arbitrate has the burden of establishing the existence of a valid arbitration agreement.” (R. p. 5). Respectfully, Hoowaki asserts this is an error of law.

The trial court cited Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 149, 644 S.E.2d 705, 708 (2007) as standing for the proposition that the party seeking to enforce an agreement to arbitrate has the burden of establishing the existence of a valid arbitration agreement. This is an incorrect statement of the law. It is not simply that Hoowaki disagrees with the underlying court's characterization; instead, Hoowaki submits that language addressing the purported legal proposition is not included in Chief Justice Toal's majority opinion cited by Judge Kinlaw in the Order. In short, the opinion in the Aiken case does not state what the trial court's order says that it does and its reliance upon it is an error of law.

Likewise, the trial court's reliance upon MBNA America Bank, N.A v. Christianson, 377 S.C. 210, 659 S.E.2d 209 (2008) is similarly misguided. In Christianson, MBNA obtained an arbitration award against Christianson in the National Arbitration Forum. Id. at 212, 659 S.E.2d at 210. MBNA subsequently filed an application for enforcement of the arbitration award in the circuit court, but importantly failed to attach a copy of the arbitration agreement. Id. Christianson thereafter filed a motion to vacate the arbitration award already granted to MBNA. Id. This Court ultimately concluded that MBNA failed to provide evidence Christianson agreed to arbitration, that the National Arbitration Forum did not have jurisdiction to hear the matter, and therefore vacated the arbitration award. Id. at 215-216, 659 S.E.2d at 212. The instant matter has a completely distinguishable fact pattern and posture as presented to the trial court. Here, there was no arbitration award or a motion to vacate the arbitration award. Additionally, the lower court was not confirming an arbitration award subject to the Federal Arbitration Act, which requires evidence of an arbitration agreement. See 9 U.S.C.A. § 13 (1999). Moreover, unlike MBNA, Hoowaki actually presented the entire arbitration agreement and language to the lower court and there is evidence of an arbitration agreement between the parties for the court to consider. Most

importantly, however, is that this Court in MBNA never stated that the party seeking to enforce an agreement to arbitrate has the burden of establishing the existence of a valid arbitration agreement.

As noted, our state's jurisprudence is the exact opposite of the standard of review cited by Judge Kinlaw in the court's Order. "[T]he party **resisting arbitration bears the burden** of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration." Dean, 408 S.C. at 379, 759 S.E.2d at 731 (quoting Green Tree Fin. Corp.-Ala. v. Randolph, 531 U.S. 79, 91, 121 S.Ct. 513, 148 L.Ed.2d 373 (2000)) (emphasis added). Moreover, "[a]ny doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration." Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp., 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013) (quoting Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118–19 (2001)). Respectfully, the standard of review utilized by the trial court in its order improperly shifted the burden of proof to Hoowaki with respect to the threshold decision as to whether the matter was subject to arbitration. Hoowaki properly presented a valid, binding arbitration agreement and therefore it was incumbent upon BVW to prove that the claim was unsuitable for arbitration, which Hoowaki contends they did not. Accordingly, the trial court's use of the improper standard of review is a reversible error of law and this matter should be remanded to the trial court with instructions to dismiss this action and/or compel the parties to arbitrate all issues raised in this case.

II. The Trial Court erred in Declining to Dismiss this Action or Compel Arbitration.

Under the parties' master Agreement, the parties agreed to submit disputes between the parties to arbitration. The Agreement contained the following plain and unambiguous alternative dispute resolution language:

Article 11, Miscellaneous

Section 11.2 Dispute Resolution. The Parties accept the process set forth below as the exclusive means to resolve disputes arising under this Agreement.

(a) Dispute Notice. Either Party ("Claimant") may promptly notify the other Party ("Respondent") in writing ("Dispute Notice") of a dispute arising under this agreement that has not been resolved through ordinary commercial means. The Dispute Notice will include (i) a summary of the dispute; (ii) the Claimant's position; and (iii) any material and relevant documentary information or references relating to the dispute that are in Claimant's possession or control. Within five (5) business days after receiving the Dispute Notice, Respondent will respond in writing by either (I) agreeing to Claimant's position or (II) scheduling a dispute resolution meeting to occur within ten (10) business days following receipt of the Dispute Notice.

(b) Initial Meeting. If Respondent schedules a dispute resolution meeting, Respondent will submit to Claimant (i) Respondent's written position and (ii) any material and relevant documentary information or references relating to the dispute that are in Respondent's possession or control. The dispute resolution meeting may be by telephone or other agreed means of contemporaneous communication. Each Party will appoint one or more individuals authorized to act with regard to the disputed issue. All dispute resolution meetings must be concluded within twenty (20) business days of the Dispute Notice ("dispute resolution meeting period"). If the dispute has not been resolved by the Parties within five (5) business days of the conclusion of the dispute resolution meeting period, each Party will prepare, and deliver to the other Party, a written summary (not to exceed three (3) 8.5"x11" pages; single spaced; typed; one-inch margins; 12-point Times New Roman font) identifying (I) all resolved issues and how they were resolved and (II) any unresolved issues and including each Party's proposed resolution ("Written Summary").

(c) Mediation. If the Parties are unable to resolve all disputed issues themselves by meeting, either Party may initiate mediation by notice to the other generally following the Commercial Mediation Procedures of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") (see www.adr.org) within thirty (30) days following delivery of the Dispute Notice. The mediator will be a qualified neutral, but need not be a member of the AAA panel of neutrals. Within seven (7) business days of initiating the mediation process, the Parties or their legal counsel shall attempt in good faith to select a single mediator; if they cannot, then a neutral shall be selected by each Party (and compensated by same) who shall together select a third neutral to mediate the matter. The Parties will present to the mediator the Written Summary and any material and relevant documentary information previously shared by the Parties, and a confidential memorandum if requested by the mediator. The confidential memorandum will be maintained in confidence by the mediator unless and only to the extent disclosure to the other Party or third parties is authorized in writing by the Party submitting such memorandum. The mediation will be completed within thirty (30) days of the mediator's appointment, and will be held

in New York, USA. If the mediation resolves all disputed issues, the Parties will bear their own mediation costs and equally share the cost of the mediator.

(d) Arbitration. If the mediation fails to resolve all disputed issues, either Party may initiate arbitration within ten (10) days after the mediation concludes. Arbitration will be governed by the US Federal Uniform Arbitration Act (Title 9, US Code, Section 1-14, as amended), and will follow the AAA Arbitration Rules then effective, as amended from time to time. The arbitrator will be a qualified neutral, but need not be a member of the AAA panel of neutrals. Within seven (7) business days of initiating arbitration, the Parties or their legal counsel shall attempt in good faith to select a single arbitrator; if they cannot, then a neutral shall be selected by each Party (and compensated by same) who shall together select a third neutral, to be the sole arbitrator of the matter. The Parties will present to the arbitrator their Written Summary and any material and relevant documentary information previously provided to the mediator, and a confidential memorandum if requested by the arbitrator. The confidential memorandum will be maintained in confidence by the arbitrator unless and only to the extent disclosure to the other Party or third parties is authorized in writing by the Party submitting such memorandum. Arbitration will be held in the State of New York, and will be completed with a final determination rendered within forty-five (45) days of the arbitrator's appointment. Unless otherwise determined by the arbitrator (or the judge in the case of applying clause (f), below, or Sections 11.3 -11.5, below), the non-prevailing Party will be obligated to reimburse the prevailing Party's reasonable attorneys' fees and other expenses related to the mediation, arbitration, or any judicial action; the Parties' good faith compliance with the intent of this Section 11.2 shall be a material factor in such determination by the arbitrator (judge).

(e) Application and Finality of Arbitration. The procedures outlined in this Section 11.2 will be the sole and exclusive process for dispute resolution between the Parties and relating to this Agreement. Judgment upon an arbitrator's determination may be entered by any court having competent jurisdiction over the affected Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party may seek a preliminary injunction or other equitable judicial relief if such action is commercially reasonable to prevent irreparable damage.

(f) Continuing Obligation to Perform. The Parties will continue in good faith to perform their respective obligations hereunder throughout any dispute resolution process. Throughout the entire dispute resolution process the Parties will have a continuing obligation to produce all relevant documentary information or references relating to the dispute that are in the Parties' respective possession or control.

(R. p. 26). Moreover, the Agreement maintains that “[t]his Agreement *and all related documents, and all matters arising out of or relating to this Agreement*, are governed by, and construed in

accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, United States of America . . .” (R. p. 26). The circuit court erred in concluding the alleged debt asserted in BVW’s complaint was not part of the substantive scope of the arbitration provisions of the Agreement.

A. The Federal Arbitration Act mandates that the trial court should have directed the parties to proceed to arbitration.

Hoowaki contends the trial court erred in failing to fully consider and accordingly apply provisions of the U.S. Federal Uniform Arbitration Act (Title 9, US Code, Section 1-14, as amended), (“FAA”), which would have mandated the trial court to direct the parties to proceed to arbitration.

The United States Supreme Court has established a two-step inquiry in considering whether to enforce an arbitration agreement. “The first task of a court asked to compel arbitration of a dispute is to determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate that dispute.” Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler–Plymouth, Inc., 473 U.S. 614, 626 (1985). “The court is to make this determination by applying the ‘federal substantive law of arbitrability, applicable to any arbitration agreement within the coverage of the Act.’” Id. (quoting Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital v. Mercury Constr. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 24 (1983)). Courts are to resolve any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues in favor of arbitration with a healthy regard for the federal policy favoring arbitration. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Byrd, 470 U.S. 213, 218 (1985). The Federal Arbitration Act establishes that, as a matter of federal law, any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability. Id. As such, courts “are to resolve any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues in favor of arbitration with a healthy regard for the federal policy favoring arbitration.” Cherry v. Wertheim Schroder and Co., 868 F. Supp. 830, 834 (D.S.C. 1994).

In determining whether the parties agreed to arbitrate the underlying dispute alleged in the Complaint, Hoowaki contends the trial court erred by not fully examining the language of the Agreement as well as the relationship between the promissory note allegedly in default and the Agreement. The Agreement contains a broad arbitration provision which states that the “procedures outlined in this Section 11.2 will be the *sole and exclusive process for dispute resolution* between the Parties and relating to this Agreement.” (emphasis added) (R. p. 26). The language in the Agreement—which includes the same parties as to the promissory note—puts BVW on notice that such claims would be subject to arbitration. Moreover, under the FAA, courts have license to construe the scope of arbitration agreements liberally. The FAA “is a congressional declaration of a *liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements.*” See Drews Distrib. v. Silicon Gaming, Inc., 245 F.3d 347, 349 (4th Cir. 2001) (emphasis added). The “central” purpose of the FAA is to “ensure that ‘private agreements to arbitrate are enforced according to their terms.’” StoltNielsen S.A. v. AnimalFeeds Int’l Corp., 559 U.S. 662, 682 (2010) (citation omitted). In addition to the language of the Agreement itself which states the FAA is applicable to resolve disputes between the parties, it is important to note that the FAA “applies in federal or state court to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction.” See Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001).

In the instant matter, BVW is a Switzerland based company entering into multiple agreements with Hoowaki, a South Carolina based company, regarding the development of intellectual property rights that the parties might use in their respective fields of use. This case involves numerous transactions involving interstate commerce and the FAA should be applied to resolve the parties’ dispute. See Munoz, 343 S.C. at 538, 542 S.E.2d at 363 (“[T]he FAA applies

in federal or state court to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that involves interstate commerce.”). Moreover, the broadly-worded arbitration clause included in the Agreement applies to the dispute over the alleged debt of the promissory note executed between the parties due to Hoowaki’s representations that the promissory note was to further the overall business dealings between the parties. As detailed to Judge Kinlaw, BVW is not in the business of loaning money and the promissory note was not a stand-alone agreement, but was instead executed between the parties because of the Agreement. (R. p. 79). The parties have operated under the Agreement for several years and Hoowaki contends the promissory note at issue is related to the original Agreement between the parties as it facilitated the day-to-day operations of Hoowaki to meet obligations under the Agreement. In short, the agreements between the parties are intertwined and the claims asserted have a significant relationship to the performance of the parties under the Agreement. See Zabinski, 346 S.C. at 598, 553 S.E.2d at 119 (“[C]ourts generally hold that broadly-worded arbitration agreements apply to disputes in which a “significant relationship” exists between the asserted claims and the contract in which the arbitration clause is contained.”).

Therefore, under the Agreement, and by extension the promissory note, the Federal Arbitration Act, and relevant case law, the trial court should have directed the parties to proceed to arbitration. As a result, this Court should reverse the trial court’s denial of Defendant’s Motion and remand to the trial court with instructions to dismiss this action and/or compel the parties to arbitrate all issues raised in this case.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated more fully herein, this Court should reverse and vacate the trial court’s denial of Hoowaki’s Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration. Further, this Court should

remand this action with instructions to dismiss this action and/or compel the parties to honor their contractual promises to each other through arbitration.