**RECEIVED**

**Mar 14 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2021-001168

---

BVW Holding AG ..... Respondent,

v.

Hoowaki, LLC ..... Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT BVW HOLDING AG

---

Amber B. Glidewell  
Ross B. Plyler  
Post Office Box 10529  
Greenville, SC 29603  
864.349.2600

COUNSEL FOR  
RESPONDENT  
BVW HOLDING AG

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

## ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADDRESSED THE “GATEWAY MATTER” OF WHETHER THE PARTIES HAD A VALID ARBITRATION AGREEMENT GOVERNING THE DISPUTE.

The Trial Court concluded that “there is no valid and enforceable arbitration requirement for the Note” and denied the motion to dismiss and motion to compel arbitration. (R. p. 8; Order, p.5). In doing so, the Trial Court used the correct standard for the initial inquiry whether an

arbitration agreement even existed that would govern the claim of non-payment of the Note by BvW. “Whether a valid arbitration agreement exists is a matter for judicial determination.” York v. Dodgeland of Columbia, Inc., 406 S.C. 67,78, 749 S.E.2d 139, 144 (Ct. App. 2013). While aspects of an arbitration clause may be subject to the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), “South Carolina law applies to the initial determination of whether an arbitration agreement exists.” MBNA America Bank, N.A. v. Christianson, 377 S.C. 210, 213, 659 S.E.2d 209, 211 (Ct. App. 2008).

Requiring the party seeking arbitration to produce some arbitration agreement applicable to the controversy is not improper burden shifting. “The South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act (UAA) generally provides that where one party denies the existence of an arbitration agreement raised by an opposing party, a court must immediately determine whether the agreement exists in the first place.” Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc., 373 S.C. 14, 22, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667 (2007) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-20(a)) (emphasis added). As noted by the U.S. Supreme Court, whether the parties have an arbitration agreement at all, or whether an arbitration clause applies to a certain type of controversy are “gateway matters” that are proper for the Trial Court to determine. Id. at 23, 644 S.E.2d at 668 (citing Green Tree Fin. Corp. v. Bazzle, 539 U.S. 444, 452, 123 S.Ct. 2402, 156 L.Ed. 2d 414 (2003)). “Arbitration will be denied if a court determines no agreement to arbitrate existed.” Id. at 24, 644 S.E.2d at 668 (emphasis added).

The denial by BvW of the existence of an arbitration agreement that applies to the claims of non-payment of the Note required the Trial Court to assess the gateway matter of whether a valid arbitration provision exists. Hoowaki seeks to link the broadly-worded arbitration provision of the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement to BvW’s claim against Hoowaki for failure to pay the Note. (R. p. 30; Memo. in Support of Defendant’s Mot. to Dismiss, p.5; see also Initial Brief

of Appellant, p.9). Hoowaki specifically states that “[t]he parties would not have entered into the promissory note *but for* the overarching Agreement between the parties as it provided Hoowaki capital to engage in the transactions contemplated by the Agreement.” (Initial Brief of Appellants, p.4 (citing Tr., P. 6)) In contrast, BvW argues that the Note and the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement are distinct and separate agreements between the parties, and that there is no significant relationship that links the arbitration provision of the Cooperation and License Agreement to the Note.

In determining this gateway matter, the Supreme Court of South Carolina noted that generally, when broadly-worded arbitration agreements are to be enforced, there must be a “significant relationship [that] exists between the asserted claims and the contract in which the arbitration clause is contained.” Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 149, 644 S.E.2d 705, 708 (2007). In Aiken, the defendant sought to enforce an arbitration agreement against the plaintiff, arguing that *but for* the agreement being in place between the plaintiff and defendant, plaintiff’s cause of action would not have arisen, thus the claims had a significant relationship to the agreement and its arbitration provision. See Id. at 149-150, 644 S.E.2d at 708. The Supreme Court of South Carolina found this line of reasoning unpersuasive. See Id. “Applying what amounts to a ‘but-for’ causation standard essentially includes every dispute imaginable between the parties, which greatly oversimplifies the parties’ agreement to arbitrate claims between them.” Id. at 150, 644 S.E.2d at 708. The Supreme Court of South Carolina went on to note that “[s]uch a result is illogical and unconscionable.” Id. (citing Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp., 750 So.2d 633, 638 (Fla. 1999) (“[T]he mere fact that the dispute would not have arisen but for the existence of the contract and consequent relationship between the parties is insufficient by itself to transform a dispute into one ‘arising out of or relating to’ the agreement.”); see also The Vestry and Church

Wardens of the Church of the Holy Cross v. Orkin Exterminating Co., Inc., 356 S.C. 202, 209, 588 S.E.2d 136, 140 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[T]he mere fact that an arbitration clause might apply to matters beyond the express scope of the underlying contract does not alone imply that the clause should apply to every dispute between the parties.”)).

The Trial Court properly addressed the gateway matter of whether the parties had a valid arbitration agreement governing the claim of non-payment of the Note by BvW. Further, while exercising its authority under South Carolina law to determine the gateway matter, the Trial Court was correct in finding that “Hoowaki’s obligations to repay the Note do not arise out of the Agreement and is a wholly unrelated obligation of Hoowaki to BVW.” (R. p. 6; Order, p.3).

## 2. BVW’S CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER THE NOTE IS NOT GOVERNED BY AN ARBITRATION CLAUSE

In this Court’s de novo review, it should similarly find there was no arbitration clause governing this dispute. “Arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit.” New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders, 379 S.C. 620, 627, 667 S.E.2d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 2008). “Where there has been no agreement to arbitrate, a party cannot be forced into compulsory arbitration.” Id. at 631, 667 S.E.2d at 6.

“[E]ven the most broadly-worded arbitration agreements still have limits founded in general principles of contract law.” Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 151, 644 S.E.2d 705, 709 (2007); see also Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc., 373 S.C. 14, 24, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007) (“General contract principles of state law apply in a court’s evaluation of the enforceability of an arbitration clause.”). Looking to contract construction rules, “[t]he cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties and, in

determining that intention, the court looks to the language of the contract.” Watson v. Underwood, 407 S.C. 443, 454-55, 756 S.E.2d 155, 161 (Ct. App. 2014). “If the contract’s language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the contract’s force and effect.” Ashley River Props. I, LLC v. Ashley River Props. II, LLC, 374 S.C. 271, 280, 648 SSe.E.2d 295, 299 (Ct. App. 2007). “When a contract is unambiguous, a court must construe its provision according to the terms the parties used as understood in in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense.” Id.

In evaluating the Note and the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement, it is clear they are separate and distinct agreements, each with its own terms and its own agreed-upon method of dispute resolution. The Trial Court found the Note “provides for its remedies” and “is governed by the laws of the State of South Carolina and further contains no requirement to arbitrate or reference to the Federal Arbitration Act.” (R. p. 7; Order p.4). The Note has no reference to arbitration and contemplates an entirely different method of dispute resolution. By the unambiguous terms of the Note, Hoowaki waives presentment, demand, protest, and notice of dishonor. (R. p. 16; Complaint, Ex. A). The terms and conditions of the Note contradict Section 11.2 regarding the dispute resolution provision of the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement (governed by New York law), which requires the aggrieved party to work through a multi-step process, beginning with the delivery of a “Dispute Notice,” mediating the issue, and finally submitting to arbitration. The Trial Court found that the differences in choice of law and the lengthy and stepwise dispute resolution requirement in the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement “cannot be reconciled with the Note’s explicit language for resolution of the payment terms.” (R. pp. 7-8; Order, p.4-5). “The obligation of repayment by Hoowaki is not determined by the Agreement, but is instead contained within the Note itself.” (R. p. 8; Order, p.5).

Next, the Note was entered into between the parties in 2018, and the Cooperation and

Licensing Agreement containing the arbitration clause was entered into in 2012. A cardinal rule of contract construction is to determine the parties' intention, and "[t]he courts, in attempting to ascertain this intention, will endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, *at the time the contract was entered into.*" Masters v. Kol, Inc., 431 S.C. 28, 38, 846 S.E.2d 893, 898 (Ct. App. 2020). In 2012 when the parties agreed to conduct complicated dispute resolution for disputes under the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement, they could not have anticipated or intended those provisions to cover a Note entered six (6) years later. Even if the parties did initially contemplate that every dispute between them would be governed in accordance with the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement, the parties unambiguously modified that arrangement with the terms and conditions explicitly stated in the Note in 2018.

Last, by its own terms the dispute resolution section in 11.2 of the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement applies to disputes under that agreement only. It states, the "procedures outlined in this Section 11.2 will be the sole and exclusive process for dispute resolution between the Parties and *relating to this Agreement,*" (R. p. 48; Memo. in Support of Defendant's Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. A Cooperation and Licensing Agreement, Section 11.2(e)) (emphasis added). The clear and unambiguous language limits the dispute resolution to disputes under and relating to the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement only, which does not mention or contemplate any loan or promise to pay. The loan was between the parties in a separate and distinct agreement with a separate and distinct method of resolution and a different choice of law (South Carolina).

The Trial Court found that "Hoowaki's obligations to repay the Note do not arise out of the Agreement and is a wholly unrelated obligation of Hoowaki to BVW." (R. p. 6; Order, p.3). The Trial Court found it notable that the Note lacks any reference to the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement or of any other contract or transaction between BvW and Hoowaki and similarly, the

Cooperation and Licensing Agreement lacks any reference to a note or any other obligation to repay a loan. (Id.). The Trial Court found that “there are no facts to suggest that the Note is governed under the Agreement.” (R. p. 7; Id. p.4).

3. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO FAA.

Hoowaki argues in its Initial Brief that the trial court failed to fully consider and apply the FAA provisions to this dispute. The FAA applies in federal or state court to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction of interstate commerce. See Munoz v. Green Tree Financial Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001). However, Hoowaki’s argument that the FAA provisions and federal case law should apply is misplaced. Even if the FAA applies, the first step in the FAA’s two-step inquiry “is to determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate that dispute.” South Carolina jurisprudence is clear that “South Carolina law applies to the initial determination of whether an arbitration agreement exists.” MBNA America Bank, N.A. v. Christianson, 377 S.C. 210, 213, 659 S.E.2d 209, 211 (Ct. App. 2008). In making the initial determination about whether an arbitration clause exists, the Trial Court properly applied South Carolina law, and this Court in its review should similarly apply South Carolina law to determine the arbitration clause in the Cooperation and Licensing Agreement does not apply to a dispute under the Note.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of the circuit court for the reasons stated and for any ground appearing on the Record as provided by Rule 220(c) SCACR.